UNAIDS 2020 REFERENCE

Addressing stigma and discrimination in the COVID-19 response

Applying the evidence of what works from HIV-related stigma and discrimination in six settings to the COVID-19 response

Contents

- 2 Background
- 3 Introduction
- 4 Evidence-based recommendations on reducing stigma and discrimination
- **5** Community settings, including individuals, families and communities
- 6 Workplace settings
- 7 Education settings
- 8 Health-care settings
- **9** Justice settings
- **10** Emergency/humanitarian settings
- **11** Conclusion
- **12** References
- 14 Annex

Background

The UNAIDS Secretariat, as co-convener of the Global Partnership for Action to Eliminate all Forms of HIV-related Stigma and Discrimination (Global Partnership), was tasked to develop this brief, based on consultations with its Technical Working Group (TWG), to provide evidence-informed guidance to countries on the intersection of stigma related to HIV and COVID-19 in national responses. UNAIDS thanks co-conveners and TWG members for participating in consultations, contributing their time and providing expert recommendations.

Introduction

In the wake of the fear and uncertainty that emerge during a pandemic, stigma and discrimination quickly follow, exposing people to violence, harassment and isolation, and hampering the delivery and uptake of essential health services and public health measures to control the pandemic (1).

The stigma that arises during a pandemic can exacerbate existing inequalities (2), including those related to race, socioeconomic status, occupation, gender, immigration status and sexual orientation.

The presence of stigma specific to certain health conditions has been observed in the HIV pandemic, the outbreaks of Ebola virus and Zika virus (3), and now the COVID-19 pandemic (2). The anticipation of stigma during a pandemic can interfere with the adoption of preventive measures, timely testing and adherence to treatment (4).

Many forms of stigma and discrimination have surfaced since the identification of COVID-19. Xenophobia has been directed at people thought to be responsible for "bringing" COVID-19 into countries. People who have recovered from COVID-19, essential workers such as health-care staff, and populations facing pre-existing stigma and discrimination (e.g. people living with HIV, people from gender and sexual minorities, sex workers, migrants) have been subject to verbal and physical abuse (5).

In several countries, people living with HIV report being required to disclose their HIV status when seeking HIV services during lockdowns, especially adolescents, women and transgender people (6). Increases in violence have been reported among women and people from gender and sexual minorities as a result of stay-at-home orders and physical distancing measures (7, 8). Attacks on lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender youth under the guise of public health enforcement measures, and lack of social protection and income security for sex workers, have been documented (9, 10).

Efforts to eliminate both existing and COVID-19-related stigma and discrimination are urgently needed and should be an integral component of global efforts to respond to the pandemic. Particular attention is needed to ensure people from vulnerable populations, including racial and gender minorities, are protected during the response and are not further marginalized, as emerging evidence suggests these populations are experiencing high morbidity and mortality related to COVID-19 (11).

Engagement and participation of all sectors of the community in the development of context-specific public health responses to COVID-19 are paramount (12). Networks of people living with HIV, key populations and women's groups have three decades of experience of implementing stigma-reduction programmes in the context of HIV, which countries can tap into to inform and support community-based public health responses to COVID-19 (13).

Evidence-based recommendations on reducing stigma and discrimination

In December 2017 the Global Partnership was formed to translate political commitments made by Member States into action to eliminate HIV-related stigma and discrimination at the country level. The Global Partnership "creates an opportunity to harness the combined power of governments, civil society, bilateral and multilateral donors, academia and the United Nations to consign HIV-related stigma and discrimination to history" (14).

In 2020 the Global Partnership launched a report that reviewed the latest evidence on what works to reduce HIV-related stigma and discrimination. The report provides evidence-based recommendations for six interconnected settings: community, workplace, education, health care, justice, and emergency/humanitarian settings (15).

Many of these recommendations are applicable to addressing stigma and discrimination related to COVID-19. The recommendations summarized in this brief have been adapted from the Global Partnership evidence review and reflect programmes and actions that can be readily incorporated into public health responses to COVID-19.

To be reflective of United Nations agreed language, this brief refers to populations at risk of "being left behind", including but not limited to people living with HIV, key populations (gay men and other men who have sex with men, sex workers, transgender people, people who inject drugs, people in prison and other incarcerated populations), indigenous populations, people with disabilities, migrants, refugees, and women and girls, particularly adolescent girls and young women.

The brief contains tables with specific recommendations for addressing stigma and discrimination related to COVID-19 in each of the six settings of the Global Partnership. The socioecological level (individual, interpersonal, organizational, community, public policy) and focus populations for each recommendation are noted. All of the actions detailed in the following tables should be rights-based, (e.g. health services must be available, accessible, acceptable, good-quality) and community-led.

Other relevant guidance documents on addressing human rights issues in the context of COVID-19 are provided in Annex 1.

Community settings, including individuals, families and communities

| Level/focus population | Recommendation |
|--|---|
| Individual (essential workers, people diagnosed with or recovered from COVID-19, populations at risk of "being left behind") | Provide virtual counselling services and support groups for essential workers to help them cope with stress and post- traumatic stress disorder in the context of COVID-19 |
| | Provide support services for people diagnosed with or recovered from COVID-19 to mitigate internalized, experienced or anticipated stigma; where possible, sessions should be led or co-facilitated by people who have recovered from COVID-19 |
| | Provide support services for populations at risk of "being left behind" in the COVID-19 response, including access to social protection programmes, masks and hand sanitizer, free COVID-19 testing and treatment, mental health services and counselling |
| | Virtually inform (e.g. via public service announcements, written materials, text messages) or train populations "being left behind", people from racial and gender minorities, essential workers, people living in high-density housing, and older people to help them understand what constitutes discrimination, how to assert their rights (e.g. to housing, employment, health services), and how to access justice if discriminated against in the context of COVID-19 |
| Interpersonal (family of people diagnosed with or recovered from COVID-19) | Provide personal protective equipment (PPE), including masks, face shields, gloves and sanitizer, to people caring at home for family members with COVID-19 to reduce the risk of and ease fears associated with COVID-19 transmission and ensure sick family members receive needed care and support |
| | Provide access to virtual family counselling services, COVID-19-specific hotlines and support services, and support groups for individuals and family members of people diagnosed with or recovered from COVID-19 to mitigate internalized, experienced or anticipated stigma |
| Organizational (advocacy organizations, networks of people living with HIV, health facilities, community-based organizations, nongovernmental organizations, government agencies working on social services/ protection) | Tap into 30 years of experience of networks of people living with HIV, key populations and women's groups of implementing stigma-reduction programmes in the context of HIV, and ensure these groups are involved in COVID-19 response planning; e.g. transgender networks in Nepal and Pakistan are providing essential needs packages and outreach in remote areas |
| | Provide funding for existing networks to adapt their stigma-reduction tools and approaches to the COVID-19 context and lead (or train other community-based organizations to lead, as appropriate) the implementation of stigma- reduction programmes using appropriate cultural mediums (e.g. songs, dance, prayers, sermons) delivered through virtual or other safe platforms and forums |
| | Follow a human rights-based approach to address COVID-19-related stigma and discrimination by ensuring good- quality support services are available, acceptable and accessible to people who experience stigma and discrimination (e.g. violence, job loss, loss of housing) related to COVID-19; this could include training governmental staff at social services and protection agencies and addressing barriers to uptake of services (e.g. location and reach of services during lockdowns, limited public transportation, concerns around confidentiality, welcoming staff) |
| Community (general public, opinion leaders, family of people diagnosed with or recovered from COVID-19) | Raise awareness and knowledge among communities about how COVID-19 is and is not transmitted, and how people can safely care for loved ones diagnosed with COVID-19 to reduce stigmatizing behaviours and promote non-stigmatizing ways to support community members diagnosed with or recovered from COVID-19, build health literacy, sensitize leaders and identify supportive strategies |
| | Implement programmes using media that do not require face-to-face contact (e.g. radio, TV, community announcements, billboards, written materials) to address drivers of COVID-19-related stigma and discrimination and existing stigmas around race, gender, socioeconomic status and migration, which may be exacerbated by the pandemic |
| | Develop messages with the community and public health leaders, people living with HIV, other populations "being left behind" and key stakeholders (e.g. political and religious leaders) to ensure appropriateness, comprehension and inclusion of relevant intersecting stigmas for each context (16) |
| | Ensure public health messages are non-stigmatizing and empower people, such as by suggesting safe ways to support people affected by COVID-19 (e.g. providing a meal, talking at a distance while wearing masks) |
| | Use non-stigmatizing language to reduce blame, e.g. "people diagnosed with COVID-19" instead of "people infected with COVID-19" and "people recovered from COVID-19" instead of "survivors of COVID-19" |
| | Do not attribute COVID-19 to a specific place, region or group of people (17) |
| Public policy (national government, funding agencies, local and national duty-bearers, public health officials) | Fund advocacy groups led by networks of populations "being left behind" to ensure the protection of these populations in the context of COVID-19 |
| | Areasure COVID-19-related stigma in the community using qualitative assessments (e.g. virtual focus-group discussions with representatives of people diagnosed with or recovered from COVID-19 and the broader community) and quantitative data collection (e.g. brief, standardized online or text message surveys) to guide development and implementation of programmes to reduce stigma and discrimination |

Workplace settings

| Level/focus population | Recommendations |
|--|---|
| Individual (employees) | Provide information to staff on confidential mechanisms to report instances of stigma, discrimination, harassment and bullying related to COVID-19 |
| | Make available mechanisms for seeking redress related to COVID-19 discrimination and articulate them clearly to staff |
| | Provide an opportunity for management and workers to conceptualize, plan, implement and evaluate non- discriminatory COVID-19 workplace programmes for stronger buy-in, trust and confidence |
| | Provide information about support services for employees who experience physical, sexual or psychological violence, and children of employees who experience sexual violence or child abuse, as a result of COVID-19 prevention measures (e.g. stay-at-home orders); services may include national hotlines, available shelters, legal service providers, and organizations that provide support for survivors of violence |
| Organizational (employers) | Incorporate COVID-19 into workplace policies in accordance with local COVID-19 safety guidelines |
| | Build on existing HIV workplace programme structures, such as workplace policies, trained peer educators, HIV health committees and HIV education programmes, and expand them to include content on COVID-19 |
| | Pay particular attention to gender in policies related to working from home and taking personal and sick leave, recognizing that women disproportionately bear the burden of caregiving for children unable to attend day care or school and sick family members (18) |
| | Provide training on human rights and gender equality competencies for all workers, including information on existing workplace policies related to HIV, COVID-19 and non-discrimination |
| | Partner with workers who have recovered from COVID-19 to speak to staff and contribute towards the reduction of stigma and discrimination (e.g. writing blogs or sharing a brief video about their experiences with COVID-19) |
| | Provide all employees with accurate, up-to-date, relevant, evidence-informed information on COVID-19 and comorbidities and legal literacy to reduce fear and encourage uptake of preventive measures and timely engagement with the health-care system if symptomatic |
| | Ensure workers and their representatives are consulted, informed and trained on occupational safety, and health and workplace systems are strengthened to address COVID-19 issues |
| | Where necessary, provide adequate protective clothing and protective equipment at no cost to workers |
| Public policy (local and national duty- bearers, public health officials) | Ensure protection is in place for people who must leave their jobs for short or long periods to provide care in the context of COVID-19, to encourage gender parity in caregiving and prevent gender discrimination, and to ensure gains made in gender equity in the workplace are not lost (18) |
| | Ensure sex workers, whose work is criminalized in many countries, and who have been particularly affected by COVID-19 measures such as stay-at-home orders, curfews and social distancing, are included in social protection and financial support programmes (e.g. cash transfer programmes) announced by governments in response to the economic impacts of COVID-19 (19) |

Education settings

| Level/focus population | Recommendations |
|--|--|
| Individual (educators, students) | Engage students, parents and the broader community in reducing stigma related to health conditions such as HIV or COVID-19 (e.g. with virtual community meetings or sensitization through cultural mediums) by addressing the drivers and causes stigma in education settings Provide educators with the training and institutional support necessary to meet the psychosocial needs of students |
| | during the pandemic, particularly students who are members of populations "being left behind", and to facilitate an educational environment free from stigma and discrimination |
| Organizational (schools) | Implement strategies to make sure all children can learn during virtual or limited in-person schooling; strategies must be context-specific and may include providing free technology (e.g. computers, tablets, wi-fi hotspots) or delivering school materials to students in their homes; these strategies should ensure girls are not left behind due to traditional gender roles and norms that disproportionately impose more family and domestic responsibilities on girls |
| | When schools reopen, prioritize in-person schooling for primary school students and children most at risk of falling behind |
| | Involve youth and women's organizations, networks of populations "being left behind" and other relevant community stakeholders in the development of educational strategies during the COVID-19 pandemic |
| | Implement programmes (e.g. hotlines, radio shows, mobile peer mentor programmes, web-based support groups, physically distanced individual counselling sessions) for students to enhance their coping skills, minimize stress, build confidence and offer the tools they need to respond to stigma and discrimination related to COVID-19 if they see or experience it |
| | Ensure the information students would have received in school about reproductive health and sexuality and about how to access youth-friendly health services is still available to adolescents during stay-at-home orders; this may require integrating information and services with other home-based or mobile health services provided in the context of COVID-19; access to virtual services may be an option (20) |
| | Implement COVID-19-specific workplace programmes for educators and staff focused on building non-discriminatory practices, expanding access to services and benefits for staff, and creating policies to prevent stigma, discrimination and bullying while ensuring confidentiality; build on or adapt existing workplace programmes developed for HIV where possible |
| Public policy (local and national duty- bearers, public health officials, ministry of education) | Establish mechanisms (including psychosocial care and support) for safe reporting of and responding to incidents of stigma, discrimination and bullying related to COVID-19 |
| | Reduce social and racial inequalities exacerbated by the pandemic by ensuring education and social protection policies are concordant with and sensitive to the special needs of young people, including orphans and other children who experience intersecting stigmas and vulnerabilities; this includes ensuring access to subsidies during COVID-19, such as school fees and school feeding programmes |

Health-care settings

| Level/focus population | Recommendations |
|--|---|
| Individual (people diagnosed with or recovered from COVID-19) | Provide personal protective equipment (PPE) including masks, face shields, gloves and sanitizer, to people caring at home for family members with COVID-19 to reduce the risk of and ease fears associated with COVID-19 transmission and ensure sick family members receive needed care and support |
| | Link people diagnosed with or recovering from COVID-19 to appropriate support services (e.g. peer support groups, COVID-19 specific hotlines, social protection services) |
| | Integrate legal services (e.g. paralegals, patient advocates) into health facilities to provide on-site or virtual guidance and awareness-raising for populations "being left behind" about their rights and quality standards in accessing services and discrimination-free health care |
| | Supplement in-person legal support services with awareness-raising videos and written or electronic material with referral information in the context of COVID-19 |
| Interpersonal (family of people diagnosed with or recovered from COVID-19) | Provide training and information on the basics of providing care safely to families and caregivers of people diagnosed with COVID-19 to minimize risk of transmission within families, address misconceptions about COVID-19, and mitigate stigma resulting from caring for a person with COVID-19 |
| Organizational (health facilities) | Provide training on the basics of COVID-19 health care to community health workers and key stakeholders so they are equipped with the latest knowledge and can mitigate misconceptions in the community about COVID-19 and reduce stigma and discrimination that may arise due to lack of knowledge, misconceptions and fear |
| | Assess knowledge and practices of health-care workers and attitudes towards populations "being left behind" and COVID-19 to help health facility administrators identify and address any issues |
| | Ensure universal PPE and supplies to test and treat COVID-19 are always stocked to protect health-care providers, including community health-care workers and those working in community-led health services; this ensures communities are reached with services safely, reduces the risk of COVID-19 transmission in the workplace and community, and reduces the fear of infection and stigmatizing behaviours towards and among health facility staff |
| | Establish a facility-level monitoring system to capture stigma, discrimination and rights violations related to COVID-19; this may include anonymous feedback on users' experiences at health facilities, or a formal system for reporting and resolving rights violations |
| Public policy (ministry of health) | Engage people affected by COVID-19 in planning and implementation of COVID-19 responses, including interventions to mitigate COVID-19 related stigma and discrimination |
| | Ensure essential health services continue in the context of COVID-19, including sexual and reproductive health services, and care and support for survivors of violence and people with chronic health conditions; e.g. Viet Nam is providing take-away doses of methadone maintenance therapy for people who use drugs during the pandemic |
| | Establish differentiated models of care, including community service delivery to ensure continued access to services for all, including populations "being left behind" during the pandemic (21) |

Justice settings

| Level/focus population | Recommendations |
|--|---|
| Individual (populations "being left behind") | Empower populations "being left behind" with knowledge of their legal rights in the context of COVID-19 and (where appropriate) their obligations under the law and how they can access legal support and redress |
| Community (networks of populations "being left behind", general public) | Enable local networks of populations "being left behind" to monitor the impact of laws (civil and penal codes) or policies related to COVID-19 that may impede HIV services, and any changes in policies and laws, and advocate for change as needed |
| | Mentor and strengthen the capacity of community service organizations working with populations "being left behind" to continue to meaningfully involve them in HIV service programming during the COVID-19 pandemic |
| | Deliver legal literacy programmes such as awareness-raising campaigns that provide information about rights and laws related to COVID-19 through media community mobilization and education, peer outreach and hotlines |
| Organizational (police, security forces and prison administrators, the judiciary, civil society organizations) | Provide in-service training for police officers, judiciary members and prison staff on COVID-19 policies, gender- based and intimate partner violence, key populations, and responsible and supportive policing in the context of the pandemic |
| | Training should cover the latest science on COVID-19; the importance of reaching out to populations at risk; the importance of appropriately addressing all violence, including domestic and sexual violence and violence by third parties and law enforcement, in the context of COVID-19 and for members of key populations; and the negative consequences of illegal police activity on justice and the COVID-19 response |
| | Ensure PPE is always stocked and available in prisons and other closed settings, police precincts and courts to reduce the risk of exposure to COVID-19; this reduces the risk of COVID-19 transmission in the workplace and reduces the fear of exposure and stigmatizing behaviours among law enforcement personnel |
| | Expand training for prison personnel to include information on COVID-19 prevention and health-care needs and human rights of people diagnosed with, recovered from or particularly vulnerable to COVID-19 |
| | Implement strategies to reduce exposure to COVID-19 in prison settings, such as reducing the number of people sharing cells, ensuring masks and hand sanitizer are available, ending overincarceration, and releasing people jailed for non-violent crimes, as some countries have done |
| | Implement programmes to prevent violence against women and populations "being left behind" in the context of COVID-19 and to address stigma and discrimination in partnership with women-led organizations and organizations for populations "being left behind" |
| | Monitor and report all violence, including violence perpetrated by law enforcement officers, and establish redress mechanisms to provide justice (22, 23) |
| | Monitor levels of stigma and discrimination in justice settings using globally agreed indicators, adapted to COVID-19, and the attitudes and practices of law enforcement personnel |
| Public policy (government ministries, parliamentarians, funding agencies) | Strengthen legal and policy environments to ensure laws and policies protect populations "being left behind", e.g. reform family law, domestic violence laws, inheritance laws and law enforcement where these laws fail to protect women or create barriers to health services; reform laws criminalizing people on the basis of sex work, same-sex sexual activity and drug use; and lower the age of consent for preventive health services (e.g. COVID-19 testing, sexual and reproductive services, HIV testing) |
| | Fund advocacy groups to support the legal reform process and advocate for and monitor the implementation of supportive laws and policies and advocate for changes, such as greater government funding to increase the quality of COVID-19-related services available to populations "being left behind" |
| | Routinely inform and sensitize duty-bearers on legal, health and human rights related to COVID-19, relevant national laws, and implications for enforcement, investigations and court proceedings (24) |
| | Routinely review existing laws, regulations and policies relating to COVID-19 and assess whether they are stigmatizing or discriminatory to any population, e.g. determine the point at which migration and travel policies are no longer a part of the COVID-19 response but instead serve to discriminate against migrants or populations from specific countries; and refrain from overly broad use of criminal laws, in particular criminalization of COVID-19 non-disclosure, exposure and transmission |
| | Limit the use of police force and coercive practices related to COVID-19, in line with international human rights law and recommendations from human rights experts |

Emergency/humanitarian settings

| Level/focus population | Recommendations |
|---|---|
| Individual (populations in emergency settings) | Ensure COVID-19 services reach populations in emergency settings to protect their health and well-being, e.g. provide access to social protection programmes, masks and hand sanitizer, and free COVID-19 testing and treatment, mental health services and counselling (25) |
| | Provide information or virtual training for populations in emergency settings to help them understand what constitutes discrimination, how to assert their rights (e.g. to housing, employment, health services), and how to access justice if discriminated against in the context of COVID-19 |
| | Implement programmes and services to reduce intersecting stigmas (e.g. internalized stigma, stigma related to refugee status, xenophobia) faced by people in conflict and crisis settings and exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic |
| | Support the needs of populations "being left behind" by providing safe access to testing, care and treatment for COVID-19 |
| Community (community-health workers) | Strengthen capacity of community health workers by ensuring appropriate linkages between communities and formal health systems in emergency settings |
| Organizational (community-based and humanitarian organizations, multilateral organizations) | Ensure PPE is always stocked and available in emergency settings for humanitarian workers and people living in refugee and internally displaced population camps and settlements to reduce the risk of exposure to COVID-19; this reduces the risk of COVID-19 transmission and reduces the fear of exposure and stigmatizing behaviours among humanitarian workers |
| | Engage populations "being left behind" and community-based organizations in the development and implementation of interventions to reduce COVID-19-related stigma and discrimination in emergency and humanitarian settings |
| | Educate humanitarian actors, including the United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, cluster leads and cluster partners, in addressing stigma and discrimination, working with people diagnosed with COVID-19, and working with key populations in emergency settings |
| | Provide in-service training for humanitarian workers on COVID-19 policies, gender-based and intimate partner violence, and populations "being left behind" |
| | Ensure training covers the latest science on COVID-19, and the importance of reaching out to populations at risk and appropriately addressing all violence, including domestic and sexual violence and violence by third parties and law enforcement, in the context of COVID-19 and for members of populations "being left behind" |
| | Implement programmes to prevent, address, monitor and report violence against populations "being left behind" in emergency settings |
| | Monitor levels of stigma and discrimination using globally agreed indicators, adapted to COVID-19, in emergency settings, including the experiences of internally displaced people and refugees, and the attitudes and practices of humanitarian personnel |
| Public policy (national governments, national duty-bearers) | Include provisions for populations "being left behind" in national emergency plans, ensuring procedures are in place to protect women and girls from gender-based and intimate partner violence that may escalate due to COVID-19 restrictions |
| | Ensure populations "being left behind" have access to legal assistance in host communities, camps for internally displaced people and refugees, and border settings |

Conclusion

Adapting evidence-based interventions from the HIV response to reduce stigma and discrimination and integrating them into the global COVID-19 response is critical. Immediate action will reduce the negative impact of COVID-19 on public health and safety and will strengthen our collective ability to control the pandemic by removing critical barriers to seeking care, testing, and adherence to guidelines on physical distancing and use of PPE.

References

- Davtyan M, Brown B, Folayan MO. Addressing Ebola-related stigma: lessons learned from HIV/AIDS. Glob Health Action. 2014;7:26058.
- Logie CH, Turan JM. How do we balance tensions between COVID-19 public health responses and stigma mitigation? Learning from HIV research. AIDS Behav. 2020;24:2003–2006.
- 3. Fischer LS, Mansergh G, Lynch J, Santibanez S. Addressing disease-related stigma during infectious disease outbreaks. Disaster Med Public Health Prep. 2019;13:989–994.
- 4. Earnshaw VA. Don't let fear of Covid-19 turn into stigma. Harvard Business Review, 6 April 2020 (https:// hbr.org/2020/04/dont-let-fear-of-covid-19-turn-into-stigma).
- Logie CH. Lessons learned from HIV can inform our approach to COVID-19 stigma. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23:e25504.
- 6. Personal communication. Geneva; Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020.
- 7. Campbell AM. An increasing risk of family violence during the Covid-19 pandemic: strengthening community collaborations to save lives. Forensic Sci Int Reports. 2020;2:100089.
- Valera E. When lockdown is not actually safer: intimate partner violence during COVID-19. Harvard Health Blog, 7 July 2020 (https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/when-lockdown-is-not-actually-safer-intimatepartner-violence-during-covid-19-2020070720529).
- Thoreson R. Covid-19 backlash targets LGBT people in South Korea. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/05/13/covid-19-backlash-targets-lgbt-people-south-korea).
- 10. Conde CH. Philippine activists charged with sedition, "fake news". New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/22/philippine-activists-charged-sedition-fake-news).
- Ford T, Reber S, Reeves R. Race gaps in COVID-19 deaths are even bigger than they appear. Brookings, 16 June 2020 (https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2020/06/16/race-gaps-in-covid-19-deaths-areeven-bigger-than-they-appear/).
- 12. Cash R, Patel V. Has COVID-19 subverted global health? Lancet. 2020;395:1687–1688.
- ICWEA lights a candle in the candle light memorial 2020. Kampala: International Community of Women living with HIV Eastern Africa; 2020 (http://www.icwea.org/icwea-lights-a-candle-in-the-candle-lightmemorial-2020/).
- 14. Global Partnership for Action to Eliminate all Forms of HIV-related Stigma and Discrimination. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2019.
- 15. Evidence for elimination HIV-related stigma and discrimination. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020.
- 16. COVID-19: how to include marginalized and vulnerable people in risk communication and community engagement. Geneva: International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, and World Health Organization; 2020 (https:// interagencystandingcommittee.org/other/iasc-interim-guidance-covid-19-focus-persons).
- 17. Social stigma associated with COVID-19: a guide to preventing and addressing social stigma. Geneva: International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, United Nations Children's Fund, and World Health Organization; 2020.
- 18. Six concrete measures to support women and girls in all their diversity in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020.

- Sex workers must not be left behind in the response to COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/ pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2020/april/20200408_sex-workers-covid-19).
- Gender and COVID-19. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (file:///Users/annestangl/Downloads/ WHO-2019-nCoV-Advocacy_brief-Gender-2020.1-eng.pdf).
- 21. Rapid hospital readiness checklist: interim guidance—harmonized health service capacity assessment in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020.
- 22. COVID-19 and violence against women: what the health sector/system can do. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020.
- 23. Addressing violence against children, women and older people during the COVID-19 pandemic: key actions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020.
- 24. Rights in the time of COVID-19: lessons from HIV for an effective, community-led response. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2020/ human-rights-and-covid-19).
- 25. Preparedness, prevention and control of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) for refugees and migrants in non-camp settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020.

Annex

Annex 1. Relevant setting-based guidance on human rights in the context of COVID-19

Community settings

- ESCWA & partners warn: violence against women has increased due to COVID-19; women will lose twice as much as men in terms of jobs. Beirut: United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia; 2020 (https://www.unescwa. org/news/escwa-partners-warn-violence-against-women-has-increased-due-covid-19-women-will-lose-twice).
- Gender and COVID-19: a guidance note for parliaments. Geneva: Inter-Parliamentary Union; 2020 (https://www.ipu.org/gender-and-covid-19-guidance-note-parliaments).
- How to stop coronavirus lockdown leading to an upsurge in violence against women. Oxfam, 25 March 2020 (https://oxfamblogs.org/fp2p/how-to-stop-coronaviruslockdown-leading-to-an-upsurge-in-violence-against-women%EF%BB%BF/).
- Jornadas sobre perspectiva de género en tiempos de distanciamiento social. Red Alas (https://www.redalas.net/copia-de-videos).
- COVID-19 and family violence. The Look Out (https://www.thelookout.org.au/familyviolence-workers/covid-19-and-family-violence/covid-19-and-family-violence-faqs).
- Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on violence against women and girls. London: UK Aid; 2020 (http://www.sddirect.org.uk/media/1881/vawg-helpdesk-284-covid-19-and-vawg.pdf).
- COVID-19 and indigenous peoples. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs; 2020 (https://www.un.org/development/desa/ indigenouspeoples/covid-19.html).
- Gender and pandemic protecting women in times of COVID-19. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2020 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/pakistan/Advocacy_Brief_3_Gender_-COVID-19-Sindh.pdf).
- Prevention: violence against women and girls and COVID-19. Geneva: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/ library/publications/2020/brief-prevention-violence-against-women-and-girls-andcovid-19-en.pdf?la=en&vs=3049).
- Harsh realities: marginalized women in cities of the developing world. Geneva: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/ sections/library/publications/2020/harsh-realities-marginalized-women-in-cities-ofthe-developing-world-en.pdf?la=en&vs=747).

- Violence against women and girls data collection during COVID-19. Geneva: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2020/04/ issue-brief-violence-against-women-and-girls-data-collection-during-covid-19).
- Online and ICT-facilitated violence against women and girls during COVID-19. Geneva: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/ publications/2020/04/brief-online-and-ict-facilitated-violence-against-women-andgirls-during-covid-19).
- COVID-19 and violence against women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/vaw-covid-19/en/).
- Violence against women during COVID-19 Q & A. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/questionand-answers-hub/q-a-detail/violence-against-women-during-covid-19).
- COVID-19 and violence against women (infographics). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/covid-19vaw-infographics/en/).

Healthcare settings

- COVID-19 and the human rights of LGBTI people. Geneva: United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner; 2020 (https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ Issues/LGBT/LGBTIpeople.pdf).
- Strategic considerations for mitigating the impact of COVID-19 on key-populationfocused HIV programs. Washington, DC: United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief; 2020 (https://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/ epic-kp-strategic-considerations-covid-19.pdf).
- The coronavirus (COVID-19): what trans people need to know. Washington, DC: Transequality; 2020 (https://transequality.org/covid19).
- Special Envoy of the Secretary-General on Disability and Accessibility. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Disability; 2020 (https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/resources/special-envoy-of-thesecretary-general-on-disability-and-accessibility.html).
- What people living with HIV need to know about HIV and COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/sites/ default/files/media_asset/HIV_COVID-19_brochure_en.pdf).
- As pandemic rages, women and girls face intensified risks. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2020 (https://www.unfpa.org/news/pandemic-rages-women-andgirls-face-intensified-risks).
- Q&A on COVID-19, HIV and antiretrovirals. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/q-a-on-covid-19-hiv-and-antiretrovirals).
- Mental health and psychosocial considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications-detail/ mental-health-and-psychosocial-considerations-during-the-covid-19-outbreak).
- Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: summary of recommendations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/summary-recommendations.pdf?ua=1).

- Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak: rights, roles and responsibilities of health workers, including key considerations for occupational safety and health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications-detail/ coronavirus-disease-(covid-19)-outbreak-rights-roles-and-responsibilities-of-healthworkers-including-key-considerations-for-occupational-safety-and-health).
- Community-based health care, including outreach and campaigns, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications-detail/community-based-health-care-including-outreach-and-campaigns-in-the-context-of-the-covid-19-pandemic).

Justice settings

- In light of women's greater exposure, ECLAC calls on states to guarantee their rights in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Mexico: Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean; 2020 (https://www.cepal.org/en/pressreleases/light-womens-greater-exposure-eclac-calls-states-guarantee-their-rights-context-covid).
- COVID-19 guidance for people who use drugs and harm reduction programs. New York: Harm Reduction Coalition; 2020 (https://harmreduction.org/miscellaneous/ covid-19-guidance-for-people-who-use-drugs-and-harm-reduction-programs/).
- Interim guidance on COVID-19: focus on persons deprived of their liberty (OHCHR/WHO). Geneva: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2020 (https:// interagencystandingcommittee.org/other/iasc-interim-guidance-covid-19-focuspersons-deprived-their-liberty-developed-ohchr-and-who).
- COVID-19 HIV prevention, treatment, care and support for people who use drugs and people in prisons. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2020 (https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/hiv-aids/new/covid-19-and-hiv.html).
- Preventing COVID-19 outbreak in prisons: a challenging but essential task for authorities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (http://www.euro.who.int/ en/health-topics/health-determinants/prisons-and-health/news/news/2020/3/ preventing-covid-19-outbreak-in-prisons-a-challenging-but-essential-task-forauthorities).

Emergency/humanitarian settings

- Gender implications of COVID-19 outbreaks in development and humanitarian settings. Geneva: Care International; 2020 (https://www.care-international.org/files/files/Gendered_Implications_of_COVID-19-Full_Paper.pdf).
- Interim guidance on public health and social measures for COVID-19 preparedness and response operations in low capacity and humanitarian settings. Geneva: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2020 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/ health/interim-guidance-public-health-and-social-measures-covid-19-preparednessand-response).
- Gender alert for COVID-19 outbreak. Geneva: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2020 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/inter-agency-standing-committee/ interim-guidance-gender-alert-covid-19-outbreak-developed-iasc).

- Interim guidance public health and social measures for COVID-19 preparedness and response in low capacity and humanitarian settings. Geneva: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2020 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/files/2020-05/ IASC Interim Guidance on Public Health and Social Measures for COVID-19 Preparedness and Response Operations in Low Capacity and Humanitarian Settings.pdf).
- COVID-19: a double burden for women in conflict settings. London: London School of Economics and Political Science; 2020 (https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/wps/2020/04/23/ covid-19-a-double-burden-for-women-in-conflict-settings/).
- Global humanitarian response plan COVID-19. New York: United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs; 2020 (https://www.unocha.org/sites/unocha/files/GHRP-COVID19_May_Update.pdf).
- Global humanitarian response plan COVID-19. New York: United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs; 2020 (https://www.unocha.org/sites/unocha/files/Global-Humanitarian-Response-Plan-COVID-19.pdf).

Multiple settings

- Feminist resources on the pandemic. London: Centre for Feminist Foreign Policy; 2020 (https://centreforfeministforeignpolicy.org/feminist-resources-on-the-pandemic).
- Human Rights dimensions of COVID-19 response. New York: Human Rights Watch; 2020 (https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/03/19/human-rights-dimensions-covid-19-response).
- ILO Violence and Harassment Convention, 2019 (No. 190): 12 ways it can support the COVID-19 response and recovery. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2020 (https://www.ilo.org/global/docs/WCMS_744676/lang--en/index.htm).
- How will COVID-19 affect girls and young women? Woking, UK: Plan International; 2020 (https://plan-international.org/emergencies/covid-19-faqs-girls-women).
- The impact of COVID-19 on immigrant survivors of gender-based violence. Falls Church, VA: Tahirih Justice Center; 2020 (https://www.tahirih.org/news/impact-ofcovid-19-on-immigrant-survivors-of-gender-based-violence/).
- Evidence for eliminating HIV-related stigma and discrimination: guidance for countries to implement effective programmes to eliminate HIV-related stigma and discrimination in six settings. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/ AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2020/eliminatingdiscrimination-guidance).
- Leaving no one behind: the COVID-19 crisis through the disability and gender lens. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs; 2020 (https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/publication/un-desa-policy-brief-69leaving-no-one-behind-the-covid-19-crisis-through-the-disability-and-gender-lens/).
- UNDP gender and recovery toolkit. New York: United Nations Development Programme; 2020 (https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/ womens-empowerment/undp-gender-and-recovery-toolkit.html).

- Gender equality and addressing gender-based violence (GBV) and coronavirus disease (COVID-19) prevention, protection and response. New York: United Nations Population Fund: 2020 (https://www.unfpa.org/resources/gender-equality-andaddressing-gender-based-violence-gbv-and-coronavirus-disease-covid-19).
- Rights in the time of COVID-19: lessons from HIV for an effective, community-led response. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2020/human-rights-and-covid-19).
- Rights in a pandemic: lockdowns, rights and lessons from HIV in the early response to COVID-19. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2020/rights-in-a-pandemic).
- Six concrete measures to support women and girls in all their diversity in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2020 (https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2020/womengirls-covid19).
- COVID-19: women front and centre. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www. unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/3/statement-ed-phumzile-covid-19-womenfront-and-centre).
- COVID-19: how to include marginalized and vulnerable people in risk communication and community engagement. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www2. unwomen.org/-/media/field office eseasia/docs/publications/2020/03/ap-covid-19_ community-engagement_130320.pdf?la=en&vs=5323).
- Women and COVID-19: five things governments can do now. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/3/news-women-and-covid-19-governments-actions-by-ded-bhatia).
- Covid-19: protecting adolescent girls. Amsterdam: Women Win; 2020 (https://www. womenwin.org/COVID19-Protecting-Adolescent-Girls).
- Four key actions to include women's needs in the COVID-19 response. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=X8mizvfGazc&feature=youtu. be).
- Checklist for COVID-19 response by UN Women Deputy Executive Director Åsa Regnér. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/ stories/2020/3/news-checklist-for-covid-19-response-by-ded-regner).
- Paying attention to women's needs and leadership will strengthen COVID-19 response. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/3/ news-womens-needs-and-leadeship-in-covid-19-response).
- COVID-19 and ensuring safe cities and safe public spaces for women and girls. New York: UN Women; 2020 (https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/ publications/2020/05/brief-covid-19-and-ensuring-safe-cities-and-safe-publicspaces-for-women-and-girls).

- Crises collide: women and Covid-19. London: Women's Budget Group; 2020 (https://wbg.org.uk/analysis/uk-policy-briefings/crises-collide-women-and-covid-19/).
- World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund and International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. Social stigma associated with COVID-19: a guide to preventing and addressing social stigma. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/ covid19-stigma-guide.pdf).

Copyright © 2020 Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) All rights reserved.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNAIDS concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. UNAIDS does not warrant that the information published in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

UNAIDS/JC3003E





UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

+41 22 791 3666

unaids.org